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DECISION


Mark Rosenberg is subject to discipline for convictions of criminal offenses, of which dishonesty is an essential element, and that are reasonably related to a physician and surgeon’s qualifications.
Procedure


The State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts (“the Board”) filed its complaint on May 25, 2006.  It filed a motion for summary determination on August 25, 2006.  On 
September 22, 2006, Rosenberg filed his response to the motion.  On October 24, 2006, we received service of a preliminary writ of prohibition.  We took no further action pending litigation of that writ, in which a mandate was issued on October 17, 2007.
  

We heard the parties’ arguments on November 30, 2007.  We grant the motion if the Board establishes facts that entitle it to a favorable decision and Rosenberg does not genuinely dispute such facts.
  At the argument, Rosenberg offered exhibits, all of which we preserved as an offer of proof but excluded from the record.  Our reporter filed the transcript of the argument on January 31, 2008.  
Findings of Fact

1. Rosenberg holds a license as a physician and surgeon that is current and active.  At all relevant times, Rosenberg was the president and an employee of Neuropsychiatric and Counseling, P.S.C. (“the corporation”).  The corporation provided psychiatric and counseling services to patients through physician and counselor employees.  
2. The patients had insurance coverage including federal government health insurance programs (“the programs”).  The programs paid for services only from persons who were “empaneled,” that is, assured as to education and license for the service paid.  The programs did not pay for services from a physician who was not empaneled.  The corporation tracked its physicians, patients, and services by computer.  The computer billed and collected $209,435.78 for services from non-empaneled physicians by attributing such services to an empaneled physician.  Rosenberg knew of the practice because he was on the corporation’s management committee and did nothing to stop it.  
3. In 1998, Rosenberg received payments from the programs to which he was not entitled – $85.26 on June 2 and $74.02 on August 21.  Rosenberg knew that the amounts were not his and intended to keep them anyway.  Based on that conduct, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Kentucky found Rosenberg guilty on two charges of violating 18 USC        § 641 by receiving stolen property (“Rosenberg’s offenses”), and imposed sentence on him.  

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the complaint.
  The Board has the burden to prove facts on which the law allows discipline.
  Therefore, it prevails on the motion by establishing beyond genuine dispute the facts on which it would bear the burden of proof at hearing.
  
The Board cites the provisions of § 334.100.2(2) allowing discipline if:  
[t]he person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty . . . in a criminal prosecution under the laws of . . . the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of [a physician and surgeon], for any offense an essential element of which is fraud [or] dishonesty, or for any offense involving moral turpitude[.]

Rosenberg alleges that he was not licensed in Missouri at the time of his convictions, but the statute does not make that fact relevant.  

The Board cites Rosenberg’s convictions under 18 USC § 641.  That statute provides criminal punishment for:  
Whoever receives, conceals, or retains [property of the United States] with intent to convert it to his use or gain, knowing it to have been embezzled, stolen, purloined or converted[.]
Rosenberg agrees that he has two criminal convictions under that law.  Rosenberg disagrees as to the characterization of his offenses.  
1.  Reasonably Related 

The Board argues that Rosenberg’s offenses are reasonably related to a physician and surgeon’s qualifications, functions or duties.  Reasonable relation is a low threshold.  To relate is merely to have a logical connection.
  

The qualifications of a physician and surgeon include good moral character.
  Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  Those attributes have a logical connection to the offense, so we conclude that the offense relates to the qualifications of a physician and surgeon.  

Rosenberg alleges that he has good moral character, but that allegation raises no genuine dispute as to any material issue.  The material issues under § 334.100.2(2) do not include proof of Rosenberg’s character, only of the criminal proceedings.
  Therefore, we grant the motion on that basis.   

2.  Essential Element
The Board argues that Rosenberg’s offenses have an essential element of fraud or dishonesty.  An essential element of an offense is one that must be present to prove every case under such statute.
  
The Board argues that fraud is an essential element of Rosenberg’s offenses.  We disagree.  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another to act in reliance upon it.
  No element of inducing detrimental reliance is needed for a violation of 18 USC § 641.  Therefore, fraud is not an essential element of Rosenberg’s offenses.  
The Board argues that dishonesty is an essential element of Rosenberg’s offenses.  We agree.  Dishonesty includes a lack of integrity
 and other actions that reflect adversely on trustworthiness.
  Receiving stolen property shows a lack of integrity
 and reflects adversely on 
trustworthiness.  Therefore, dishonesty is an essential element of Rosenberg’s offenses, and we grant the motion on that basis.  
3.  Moral Turpitude

The Board argues that Rosenberg’s offenses involve moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is: 

as an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.[
]
Whether the offense involves moral turpitude depends, at least in part, on the offense’s statutory definition.
  The definition may describe conduct that involves moral turpitude always, never, or depending on the specific conduct committed.  The last category describes receiving stolen property because that offense includes conduct that, though dishonest, does not rise to a level of baseness, vileness, or depravity.  The corporation collected over $200,000 in false billings, but those are not Rosenberg’s offenses.  The conduct underlying Rosenberg’s offenses consists of keeping less than $160.  Such conduct was dishonest, but does not rise to moral turpitude.  
Summary


We conclude that Rosenberg is subject to discipline under § 334.100.2(2).  

SO ORDERED on April 28, 2008.



________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.


Commissioner
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